	Conditions of Work and Employment Series No. 62
Inclusive Labour Markets, Labour and Working Conditions Branch	Relations
What Does the Minimum W A Review of Studies and M	age Do in Developing Countries? ethodologies
Dale Belman* and Paul Wolfson**	
* School of Human Resources and Labor F ** Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth C	Relations, Michigan State University College
** Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth (College
** Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth (Relations, Michigan State University College NTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE - GENEVA

Copyright © International Labour Organization 2016

Publications of the International Labour Office enjoy copyright under Protocol 2 of the Universal Copyright Convention. Nevertheless, short excerpts from them may be reproduced without authorization, on condition that the source is indicated. For rights of reproduction or translation, application should be made to the Publications Bureau (Rights and Permissions), International Labour Office, CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland. The International Labour Office welcomes such applications.

Libraries, institutions and other users registered in the United Kingdom with the Copyright Licensing Agency, 90 Tottenham Court Road, London W1T 4LP [Fax: (+44) (0)20 7631 5500; email: cla@cla.co.uk], in the United States with the Copyright Clearance Centre, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923 [Fax: (+1) (978) 750 4470; email: info@copyright.com] or in other countries with associated Reproduction Rights Organizations, may make photocopies in accordance with the licences issued to them for this purpose.

ILO Cataloguing in Publication Data

Belman, Dale; Wolfson, Paul

What does the minimum wage do in developing countries?: A review of studies and methodologies / Dale Belman and Paul Wolfson; International Labour Office, Inclusive Labour Markets, Labour Relations and Working Conditions Branch. - Geneva: ILO, 2015 (Conditions of work and employment series; No. 62)

International Labour Office. Inclusive Labour Markets, Labour Relations and Working Conditions Branch.

minimum wage / wages / methodology / research method / measurement / developing countries

13.07

First published 2016

Cover: DTP/Design Unit, ILO

The designations employed in ILO publications, which are in conformity with United Nations practice, and the presentation of material therein do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the International Labour Office concerning the legal status of any country, area or territory or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers.

The responsibility for opinions expressed in signed articles, studies and other contributions rests solely with their authors, and publication does not constitute an endorsement by the International Labour Office of the opinions expressed in them.

Reference to names of firms and commercial products and processes does not imply their endorsement by the International Labour Office, and any failure to mention a particular firm, commercial product or process is not a sign of disapproval.

ILO publications can be obtained through major booksellers or ILO local offices in many countries, or direct from ILO Publications, International Labour Office, CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland. Catalogues or lists of new publications are available free of charge from the above address, or by email: pubvente@ilo.org

Visit our website: www.ilo.org/publns

Printed by the International Labour Office, Geneva, Switzerland

Contents

	Page
1. Introduction	1
2. Models and Measures	2
2.1 The "Canonical Model"	2
2.2 Quasi-Experiments	3
2.3 Key Variables: The Minimum Wage and Outcome Measures	4
2.3 (a) Measures of Employment	4
2.3 (a1) Crude Measures of Employment	4
2.3 (a2) Measures of Hours	5
2.3 (a3) Measures of Formal and Informal Sectors	6
2.3 (b) The Minimum Wage	7
2.3 (c) Wages	10
3. Emerging Issues of Methodology:	10
3.1 Identification	10
3.2 Biased or Inconsistent Standard Errors	13
3.3 Static and Dynamic Modeling	13
4. Contemporary Research on the Minimum Wage in Low Income and Developing Countries	15
4.1 Articles Addressing Employment	16
4.2 The Minimum Wage and Earnings Inequality	21
4.3 The Minimum Wage and Inflation	22
5. Advancing Research on the Minimum Wage in Developing and Low Income Countries	22
Bibliography	25
Conditions of Work and Employment Series	33
Table	
Table 1: Summary of Characteristics of Empirical Articles on the Effect of	
the Minimum Wage in Low Income and Developing Countries	26

1. Introduction

Issues of the effect of the minimum wage on labor and product markets remain a matter of ongoing interest to economists and policy makers and a prolific area for research. More than 600 studies of the minimum wage were authored between 2000 and 2010 and the number has continued to grow. Current empirical research is notably varied in methods, data and measures, especially in contrast with earlier research on the minimum wage, which was dominated by univariate time series methods. The coming of the "New Minimum Wage Research" (NMWR) in the early 1990s resulted in fresh approaches to obtaining the effects of the minimum wage. These include the analysis of panel data methods and quasi-experiments. More recently, the use of synthetic control techniques has entered this literature.

There has also been a broadening of the outcomes considered in the minimum wage research. While the employment consequences of the minimum wage remain the staple of contemporary research, there is greater consideration of employment related effects such as the effect on hours of work, on accessions and separations, on unemployment and vacancies and on second job and part-time job holding as well as the division of employment between the formal and informal sectors. There is also more attention to the impact on wages and earnings, and in particular distinguishing between the effect on bound workers who earn the minimum wage and the spillover effects on workers who had been earning more than the new minimum wage. There has been some research on the effects on receipt of health care and pensions, as well as an increased volume of work looking at the effects of the minimum wage on schooling and training and impacts on family income. There is considerable new work on effects on prices, particularly on prices in eating and drinking places. This greater range of methods and outcomes is accompanied by consideration of a broader variety of potentially affected groups. Studies of teenagers and young adult once comprised a majority; research now looks at the effects on those with limited education, on men and women, on racial and ethnic groups, on specific industries, on full and part time workers and on low income households.

Most research on minimum wages has focused on the OECD countries, but a substantial body of research is emerging on less developed countries. The consequences of the minimum wage are of particular concern for these countries, which face greater challenges in improving the conditions of low income workers and promoting wage employment. The estimates from the many studies of low income and developing countries have been ably summarized in several papers but, to date, no work has explicitly considered the methodologies used in these studies.¹ In the last two decades, empirical work on the minimum wage has

¹ Recent reviews of the literature include Nataraj, S., F Perez-Arce & K. B. Kumar, "The Impact of Labor market Regulation on Employment in Low-Income Countries: A Meta-Analysis," Journal of Economic Surveys, (2014), Vol 28, No. 3, pp 551-572; Broecke, S., A. Forti, & M Vandeweyer, "The Effect of Minimum Wage on Employment in Emerging Economies: A Literature Review," monograph; and Betcherman, G, "Labour Market Institutions: A Review of the Literature," University of Ottawa, Background paper for the

provided insights into the strengths and weakness of competing methodological approaches to understanding the effect of the minimum wage. Given the importance of these issues to developing countries, deeper understanding of the learning of the last two decades is key to effective use of this research.

This review focuses on issues of methodology in minimum wage research, with particular attention to measures of outcomes and of the minimum wage, and to empirical methods. We begin with an overview of measures and methods, followed with a discussion of issues of identification, of accuracy in hypothesis testing, and of distinctions between static and dynamic models. The second section of the paper reviews research on the minimum wage in developing countries with respect to measures and methodology since 2000. We suggest that although some of this work is methodologically sophisticated, it does not always use latest methods and, in some instances, uses methods that have been recognized as problematic. These methodological issues are not unique to research on developing countries; the authors of this report discuss these at length in What Does the Minimum Wage Do? (Belman and Wolfson, 2014) in the context of research on developed countries. In the last section, we outline an approach to developing standards for studies of the minimum wage in developing countries which may be useful in assuring that estimates are methodologically sound and providing guidance in the design of policies for developing countries.

2. Models and Measures

In this review of models and measures, we first discuss several of the more common models used to estimate the minimum wage equations before moving to a discussion of dependent variables and measures of the minimum wage.

2.1 The "Canonical Model"

The most common approach to estimating minimum wage effects is the estimation of panel data models either with the data aggregated into "state" by year observations or repeat cross section data on individuals with "state" and year variables in the data.² This structure, first applied to the minimum wage research by Neumark and Wascher (1992), allows for the inclusion of state and year fixed effect dummieswhich absorb time invariant state effects and state invariant year effects. This reduces the need for elaborate controls for factors other than the minimum wage which might affect the dependent variable. This model, now referred to as the "canonical model", takes the form

$$Y_{it} = \alpha + \beta_{MW} M W_{it} + \underline{\beta'} \underline{X_{it}} + \underline{\theta'} Y E A R_t + \underline{\psi'} \underline{S_i} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
 (1)

 $World \ \ Development \ \ Report \ \ 2013 \ \ http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTNWDR2013/Resources/8258024-1320950747192/8260293-1320956712276/8261091-1348683883703/WDR2013_$

² More formally, the geographic unit can be any administrative unit which sets its own minimum wage. Depending on the country, this might be a state, province, region or county, among other terms for administrative unit. We use the term "state" for this discussion because so many of these models are estimated with U.S. data and the relevant administrative units are the states.

where

Y_{it} is the value of the dependent variable at location i at time t.

MW_{it} is the measure of the minimum wage at location i at time t.

X_{it} is a vector of values of other explanatory variables for location i at time t.

YEAR_t is an indicator variable for year t.

S_i is an indicator variable for state i.

 ε_{it} is an error term.

i is the index of location

t is the index of time.

The dependent variable used in these models is typically a measure of employment such as the employment to population ratio. Other dependent variables that have been examined in similar panel data frameworks include earnings and measures of school enrollment. Measures of the minimum wage are varied but are most often a measure of the relative minimum wage, a Kaitz ratio or the real minimum wage. Each of these measures is developed in the discussion of variables. Typically, the set of control variables is limited as it is assumed that the fixed effects control for most of the factors affecting the dependent variable. For example, in his study of the response of teenage employment, Neumark (2001) estimated specifications that included only the prime age male unemployment rate, the prime age skilled male employment rate and the population share of teens. The assumption that few variables other than the minimum wage vary by both time and location has become an issue of increasing concern in this literature, one which we develop in the discussion of identification. The early assumption that the error term was i.i.d. (independent and identically distributed) has also turned out to be problematic, with consequences for the correct estimation of standard errors and hypothesis testing.

2.2 Quasi-Experiments

The other dominant approach used in this literature has been the construction of quasi-experiments (QEs). QEs are distinguished not necessarily by differences in techniques (the vast majority of studies use variants on regression) but by the careful specification of experimental and control groups. For example, Card's early work on fast food restaurants used before and after data on the same set of establishments to measure the impact of increases in the minimum wage on employment, using prior employment in an establishment as the control for the post change level of employment. This approach has evolved into studies which use establishments in adjacent administrative units, only one of which implements an increase in the minimum wage, to estimate the effect of the minimum wage on employment. These studies, such as those by Card and Krueger (1994) and Allegretto, Dube and Reich (2011), compare the change in employment levels in jurisdictions which raise the minimum wage – employment after the increase minus employment before it -- to the contemporaneous change in nearby jurisdictions which experienced no increase in the minimum wage. QE

studies are more varied in their methods and approaches than the canonical studies, but are identified by their attention to the definition of comparison groups.

2.3 Key Variables: The Minimum Wage and Outcome Measures

Although there has been a great broadening of research on the effects of the minimum wage in OECD countries, this has not been as marked in studies of developing countries. With notable exceptions, research on these countries has been focused on employment issues. For this reason, we start the discussion of dependent variables on employment outcomes. We follow the discussion of employment with a discussion of wage and earnings measures and measures of the minimum wage. We draw heavily on our knowledge of United States labor market data in this discussion of issues with data and variable construction. Data from other countries will have their own set of characteristics which researchers will need to consider in the construction of measures.

2.3 (a) Measures of Employment

Employment is measured in several different ways. The degree of fineness turns on whether the measure refers to the total amount of paid (employed) labor, typically the number of hours, or cruder measures, such as the number of employees. We will first look at the latter, because studies that use them are the most common.

2.3 (a1) Crude Measures of Employment

In studies of demographic groups, the most widely used measure is the *employment ratio*. This is the fraction of the group under study that is employed: for example, teenagers, young adults or married women. The teenage employment ratio is the percentage of teenagers who report having a job. In the canonical model, which labels observations by state and year, it would be the average fraction of teenagers employed in state i during year t. If at some moment all teenagers reported that they had a job, the teen employment ratio would be one. If none reported having a job, it would be zero, and if half did, it would be 50 percent. It automatically corrects for changes in the size of the teenage population, and studies that use it implicitly assume that if there were no trends and nothing changed but the size of the teenage population, a constant fraction of teenagers would always be employed.³

³ Other common measures of employment outcomes, such as unemployment, are only rarely used in minimum wage studies. The international definition of an unemployed person is an individual who is neither employed nor self-employed but is both available for work and actively seeking work. The unemployment rate is the ratio of the number of those who are unemployed to the sum of those employed and the unemployed. A problem with this measure for minimum wage studies is that the distinction between the unemployed and those without jobs who are not actively seeking work is sensitive to influences such as the current condition of the labor market, the availability of unemployment benefits, and whether respondents are in school (full time students are not classified as unemployed). Teasing out the effect of the minimum wage from other factors affecting the unemployment rate is considerably more challenging than the already difficult task of measuring the effect on the employment ratio.

Industry studies and others that use establishment data more commonly measure employment as the number of jobs (or the number of individuals employed) or the growth rate of the number of jobs. Quasi-experiments in which the unit of observation is a business establishment, perhaps a fast food restaurant, would measure the number of jobs at each establishment before and after the change in the minimum wage. Regression analyses of the restaurant industry generally use either the total number of jobs in the industry or the growth rate of the number of jobs in the industry.

2.3 (a2) Measures of Hours

Many employment measures are somewhat crude, distinguishing between neither full-time and part-time employment nor differences in the length of the workweek. Controversy about the response of employment to the minimum wage suggested to some that less crude measures might provide resolution. These tend to be variations on the number of paid hours of employment. Total hours, for an individual, for an establishment or firm, or for an industry, are a common choice. Others include average hours over all individuals in an establishment or an industry, and full-time equivalents (FTEs), that is, total hours divided by the number of hours considered to be in a full-time workweek (40 or 35, for example).

"Hours of employment" drawn from establishment data are based on actual hours that were paid for during a specified period, often a specific week. It is not uncommon for studies of demographic groups (which most often depend on household surveys) to include several measures of hours worked. There may be measures of actual hours over a particular period and a measure of usual hours. Studies that use usual hours will not be entirely comparable to studies that use actual hours; they are measuring closely related but different phenomena. This is particularly true if, similar to some surveys, usual hours is coded with a qualitative outcome for those working variable hours.

⁴ As an example, before 1994 the U.S. Current Population Survey asked about both total hours worked at all jobs in the previous week and usual weekly hours worked. Starting that year, and continuing through the present it asks separately for the number of hours at the primary job and at all other jobs, if any, in the previous week. The question on usual hours was changed in a parallel but somewhat problematic fashion. While before 1994 this was a simple question about "usual hours worked per week," since then this question has not only also distinguished between usual hours at the primary and all other jobs, but people who respond "variable," that is, that they do not have a usual number of hour of work per week, are coded as –4.

⁵ It is useful to understand how "total hours of work," "average hours of work, conditional on employment," and "average hours of work" differ. The first is typically calculated as the product of average monthly hours and total monthly jobs. It is the total number of hours worked each month in a particular industry or location and is the obvious analog to the number of jobs. The second, common in studies that use data derived from establishment surveys, is the total number of hours that those employed have worked, divided by the number of employed. It tells us more about the length of the workweek than the amount of labor employed or paid for. While useful for some purposes—for example, determining whether the employed are actually earning more following a change in the minimum wage—it is not appropriate for examining the effect of the minimum wage on employment measured as the amount of labor paid for. Changes in the minimum wage that lead to changes in the number of individuals employed will cause this measure to vary from total hours. However, if the minimum wage does not influence the number of jobs, then it is possible to infer change in total hours from this measure. The third measure, average hours of work (sometimes referred to as the unconditional average), is the total number hours worked by the employed, divided by everyone in the same category (i.e., teenagers,

2.3 (a3) Measures of Formal and Informal Sectors

Informal employment is defined by the ILO as,

"all remunerative work (i.e. both self-employment and wage employment), that is not registered, regulated or protected by existing legal or regulatory frameworks, as well as non-remunerative work undertaken in an income-producing enterprise. Informal workers do not have secure employment contracts, worker's benefits, social protection or workers' representation."

(ILO Thesaurus, http://www.ilo.org/thesaurus/default.asp)

In 1993, the 15th International Conference of Labour Statisticians at the ILO (15th ICLS) defined the informal sector as a group of production units comprised of unincorporated enterprises owned by households, including informal own-account enterprises and enterprises of informal employers (typically small and non-registered enterprises). In 2003, the 17th ICLS defined informal employment, as including all informal jobs, i.e. jobs in the informal sector as well as informal jobs outside the informal sector, such as non-declared jobs or jobs for which labor regulations are not applied.

The model typically used to understand the effect of a minimum wage on employees in the informal sector, based on Stigler (1948), has two labor markets, only one of which is covered by the minimum wage. In this model, an increase in the minimum wage raises the wage in the covered sector but causes employees to be displaced from the covered sector to the uncovered sector. As a consequence, employment in the uncovered sector rises and wages decline. Theoretical models of the relations between covered and uncovered sectors have become more complicated as evidence of "lighthouse" effects, wage spillovers from the higher wage covered to the lower wage uncovered sector, has emerged.⁶

Although the effect of the minimum wage on the uncovered sector was potentially applicable to many developed countries in the past, the broadening of minimum wage coverage in these countries has reduced or eliminated the "uncovered" sector. In contrast, there is a robust informal economy in many developing countries, and much of the research on the effects of the minimum wage in these countries has looked at the differential effects on the formal and informal economy or sectors. A challenge in this research has been defining measures of employment in the formal and informal economy or sectors from household or establishment surveys. In some instances, data include information on coverage by the minimum wage laws, or inclusion in the social security system (Pelek, 2013). In other cases, the distinction between formal and informal is proxied by the distinction between salaried and non-salaried employment

immigrants, etc.), whether or not they are employed or even in the labor force. For instance, the unconditional average hours of work of teenagers is the total hours that employed teenagers work divided by all teenagers. So long as the number of teenagers does not vary in response to changes in the minimum wage (and there are no large changes in its value from period to period), then this figure correlates highly with total (usual) hours of work. Where the second measure is used, it is necessary to combine the findings for hours with those for employment where possible, but this is a bit ad hoc.

⁶ See, for example, Souza and Baltar (1979) or Bell (1997) for Mexico and Columbia.

(Comola & de Mello, 2011), by employment outside of a firm (Muravyev & Oshchepkrov, 2013), or by employment in specific industrial sectors, such as domestic work (Dinkelman & Rachhhod, 2012). Other research considers a more complex sectorial structure with differential effects of the minimum wage in which the labor markets are divided between large firms, small firms, self-employment and public employment (Gindling and Terrell, 2009) or between effects on state and non-state enterprises (Wang and Gunderson, 2011).

The differential effect of the minimum wage in an economy in which a large proportion of the labor force is not covered (de jure or de facto) by the minimum wage is an important issue in developing countries, particularly as they move toward implementing or substantially increasing their minimum wage. Beyond the issues with determining workers' sector of employment, efforts to distinguish between the effect of the minimum wage on covered and uncovered sectors likely should be embedded in a broader model of employment and non-employment. Individuals can be in one of three states: employed in the formal sector, employed in the informal/uncovered sector and not employed. For the most part, current research has tended to treat employment/ non-employment separately from the sector of employment. It may be better addressed in a unified model which classifies individuals in one of several types of employment or as not employed. Such models can estimated by multinomial logit or, if it is preferred to consider the choice of employment/non-employment prior to sector, with a conditional logistic model based on McFadden's work.⁷

2.3 (b) The Minimum Wage

The value of the legislated minimum wage at any moment is a nominal variable; that is, without consideration for the price of anything else, it is measured in terms of the currency unit (e.g., dollars) per unit of the item under consideration, here an hour of labor. We can say that the U.S. federal minimum wage was \$5.85 (per hour) for the year beginning on July 24, 2007, and that the minimum wage in Washington, D.C., was \$8.07 in January 2008. This raises two issues about measuring the minimum wage. The simpler one is "What is the measured value of the minimum wage when the data are aggregated over time?" If the unit of observation is aggregated from monthly data up to a calendar year, as is frequently the case with panels that rely on the Current Population Survey (CPS), what is the appropriate value of the federal minimum wage for 2007? The standard approach is to set it to the average value not over the course of the year but over the dates of the CPS surveys, which are monthly and refer to the week that contains the 12th of the month. The value of the federal minimum wage was \$5.15 for the first seven surveys (January through July) of 2007, and \$5.85 for the last five (August through September), so the annual value would be \$5.44.

In some jurisdictions, there is more than one minimum wage law: for example, in the United States, not only is there a federal minimum wage, but many states have their own minimum wage. Except in special well-specified situations, for example that the firm is smaller than a certain size specified in the federal law, the higher of the two applies. The standard practice is to ignore these

⁷ See McFadden, D (1974)., "Conditional Logit Analysis of Qualitative Choice Behavior," P. Zarembka (ed.), FRONTIERS IN ECONOMETRICS, 105-142, Academic Press: New York, 1974.

special situations, because they apply to relatively few employees, and to use the higher of the applicable levels. Rather than repeatedly use the phrase "higher of federal or state minimum wage." this is commonly indicated by the phrase "effective minimum wage."

A more complicated problem pertains to inflation and the price level more generally. A minimum wage of \$5.85 has a different impact in 2007, when the mean wage for U.S. teenagers was \$8.20 per hour and the U.S. Consumer Price Index (CPI) had a value of 207, than in it would have 1981, when the teenage mean wage was \$3.77, and the CPI was 91. The cost of living also varies between cities, states, and regions, but (in the U.S.) there is no accepted index comparing costs geographically.

To think about possible solutions, consider a panel data set where each observation refers to a specific state and vear and the relevant variables are constructed from CPS data. One common way of correcting for cost differences among states and over years is to calculate the average wage (for all employees, perhaps, or for prime-age adult males or teenagers) for each state and year, and divide that into the minimum wage. This is the relative minimum wage. As Card, Katz, and Krueger (1994) observe, in times of prosperity, both employment and wages will rise, and the rise in wages will cause a decline in the calculated value of the relative minimum.⁸ Similarly in times of recession, employment and wages will fall, and the decline in wages generates a rise in the relative minimum wage. As a result, there will be a negative correlation between employment and the relative minimum wage due only to movements in average wages, whether or not employers respond to a higher minimum wage with lower employment or hiring. An alternative is to calculate the real minimum wage, dividing the nominal one by a price index like the Consumer Price Index (CPI).9 The shortcoming with this approach (at least for the United States) is that the CPI is not available at the same level of geographic disaggregation as the minimum wage.

The Kaitz index—a coverage-adjusted, relative minimum wage—is a measure of the minimum wage that once was quite common in empirical work, but is rarely used currently. The relative part of this term is clear enough; coverage adjusted refers to the fraction of individuals employed in industries to which the minimum wage applies, industries that are covered. At different times in the past, different levels of the minimum wage have been relevant for different groups of individuals, and for different businesses or industries. There have been lower minimum wages for teenagers than for older workers, and minimum wages

⁸ Card, Katz, and Krueger (1994) are here extending an observation that Freeman (1982) made with reference to studies that analyze cross-sectional data.

⁹ Neumark, Schweitzer, and Wascher (2004) introduced an equivalent approach, the inclusion of a distinct constant term for each year (annual fixed effects).

¹⁰ Amendments to the Fair Labor Standards Act in 1961 and 1966 extended full minimum wage coverage to all but the smallest firms, making adjusting the minimum wage for coverage far less important. As a result, the Kaitz index has largely disappeared from minimum wage research on the United States. In addition, the Kaitz index has endogeneity issues that Card, Katz & Krueger (p. 490 ILRR 1994) identified, so even where coverage may remain relevant, another solution needs be found, perhaps instrumenting.

for smaller establishments have often been lower than the national minimum wage. Adjusting for coverage uses a messy formula that is a weighted average of minimum wages that reflects the distribution of employment across industries, establishments, and demographic groups with different values of the minimum wage^{11.}

Two other ways of measuring the minimum wage are the *fraction affected* (also sometimes called *fraction at risk*) and the *wage gap*. Card (1992a) introduced the fraction affected measure early in the NMWR in his cross-sectional analysis of change in employment following the 1990 increase in the federal minimum wage. Its value is the percentage of workers who, prior to an increase in the minimum wage, earn between the old and new values of the minimum wage. The intuition is that observations where this value is large are more sensitive to the minimum wage increase because it would be necessary to raise wages for a large fraction of employees to remain in compliance with the new, higher minimum wage. In Card's (1992a) study, with states as the level of analysis, it accounts for differing levels of the minimum wage across states before the federal increase. Employees initially earning below the minimum wage are excluded from the measure under the assumption that their employers are either not required to pay the minimum wage or have chosen not to comply, and this is likely to continue following the increase.

The wage gap, introduced by Currie and Fallick (1996), can be calculated for an individual worker or for a larger aggregation. For an affected individual, one who was previously earning less than the new, higher, value of the minimum wage following an increase, the wage gap is the difference between the new level of the minimum wage and her wage before the increase. It can be measured as a monetary value (e.g., in dollars) or as a percentage. For all others, those whose wage prior to the increase was already above the new, higher value of the minimum wage, the wage gap is set to zero. For establishments or regions, the wage gap is measured as the share of total payroll necessary to bring the fraction affected up to the new minimum wage.

For establishment studies, the counterpart of the wage gap variable is an exposure measure. Establishments and firms with a base period average wage below the new minimum wage are assigned the value of their average wage less the minimum wage; those with an average wage above the new minimum wage are assigned a value of zero. Exposure variables have been used by Harrison and Scorse (2010) and by Alatas and Cameroon (2008) in studies of Indonesia and by Mayneris, Poncet and Zhang (2014) in their study of China. As indicated in each of these studies, exposure variables are imperfect measures of firms' sensitivity to the minimum wage increase. Firms with average wages above the minimum wage may have employees earning below the minimum; firms with averages below the new minimum may have a substantial number of employees earning above the new minimum. It nevertheless remains a useful proxy of the degree to which the increase in the minimum wage is likely to affect a firm.

¹¹ The Kaitz ratio is defined as $\left[\frac{\text{minimum wage}}{\text{average wage}}*\text{Coverage}\right]$ where the minimum wage is the applicable minimum wage, the average wage is the average hourly wage for the group of interest and coverage is the percent of the individuals in the group who are covered by the minimum wage law.

Unlike the measures that incorporate the value of the minimum wage, each of these measures reflect the size of the relevant section of the lower tail of the wage distribution, the part of the employed workforce that is potentially affected by an increase in the minimum wage. Consequently, each is more sensitive to the exante facts on the ground. The wage gap and exposure measures go beyond the fraction affected in considering not only the size of this part of the tail, but the wage levels of those within it.

2.3 (c) Wages

The terms wages and earnings are used inconsistently across studies. For the purposes of this review, wage rate refers to the straight time hourly wage an individual is paid. Earnings commonly indicate the pretax amount in an employee's paychecks over some period. For those paid weekly (or biweekly or monthly), hourly earnings are the amount they are paid per week (or fortnight or month) divided by the number of hours they worked that week (or fortnight or month). For those paid by the hour, hourly earnings might also be their wage rate, but if they worked overtime at time and one-half or better, hourly earnings might be greater than their wage rate. While earnings can be computed for all employees, wage rates are only available for those who are paid by the hour. In this review, we use wages as a general term referring to employee pay. It encompasses both wage rates and earnings but, unlike wage rates or earnings, it is not a specific measure.

3. Emerging Issues of Methodology:

3.1 Identification

The issue identified by the phrase "Correlation is not causation" has been of interest to economics, a largely observational science, at least since Working (1927). Experimental sciences can resolve the problem either explicitly by systematic variation in causal variables or implicitly by randomly assigning experimental subjects to treatment or control groups. Although these solutions have been used for the study of government participatory programs and occasionally those of private organizations, purely statistical solutions have received much attention because those of the experimental sciences are unavailable for most topics of economic interest. Prior to the 1991 conference that launched the *NMWR*, minimum wage research had not shared the increasing interest in the possibility of more nearly mimicking controlled experiments (Meyer 1995), relying on estimated conditional partial correlations from one dimensional observational data, primarily time series, and less often cross-sectional, data (Brown, Gilroy and Kohen 1982).¹³

¹² See also Epstein (1987) and Christ (1994). Experimental sciences can resolve the problem either explicitly by systematic variation in causal variables or implicitly by randomly assigning experimental subjects to treatment or control groups.

¹³ Wooldridge (2010, ch. 21) contains a more recent discussion of this quasi-experiments.

The conference papers contrasted sharply with earlier practice. Neumark and Wascher (1992) introduced panel data and models to the field, adapting the analytic framework previously applied to time-series data in the hope that greater variation in the data would allow for more careful measurement of the relationship between employment and the minimum wage. Card (1992) and Katz and Kreuger (1992) introduced what we would now recognize as early versions of quasi-experiments (QEs): the latter, a differences analysis, the former a protosynthetic control framework. Following the conference, in perhaps the most widely known analysis of the *NMWR* and one of the most widely known analyses of its kind, Card and Krueger (1994) introduced the difference-in-differences technique to the study of the minimum wage.

In the next decade or so, panels and QEs separately became much more widely used, with Neumark and Wascher's approach coming to be referred to as the canonical model (Allegretto, Dube and Reich 2011). Each involved variations. Eventually, serious questions arose concerning the estimated standard errors and the validity of statistical inference based on them (discussed in the next section), but the most important substantive criticism of each changed little during this time. For the QEs, this was doubts about generalizing from what were essentially a few short-term case studies. For the panel model, this concerned the non-responsiveness to the objection "Correlation is not causation", eventually coming to focus on poor identification of the effect of the minimum wage because treatment and control groups were not carefully matched.

The concerns about the QEs are straightforward and easy to understand but the identification issue is a bit more subtle, so a few words of elaboration are in order. Is the minimum wage endogenous, and if so, what is an appropriate correction? In their critique of Neumark and Wascher (1992), Card, Katz and Krueger (1994) objected that the Kaitz index was endogenous and by construction would vary inversely with employment even without any correlation between employment and the minimum wage. Even without this artificial introduction of endogeneity, if both leisure and minimum wage legislation are normal goods, the minimum wage and labor supply (and thus employment) are correlated, without causation running from one to the other.

Little progress was made toward resolving either of these issues until three analyses that showed how the canonical model could be transformed, step-by-step, to one that looked like a set of QEs (Allegretto, Dube and Reich 2009, 2011; Dube, Lester and Reich 2010). Because many state policies that affect labor demand and supply are both correlated when considered contemporaneously across states and contemporaneously homogeneous within multi-state regions (Allegretto, Dube and Reich 2009), the census divisions can be understood as regional economies within which effects of the minimum wage can be disentangled from those of other factors. Two of the studies (Dube, Lester and Reich 2010 and Allegretto, Dube, and Reich 2009) take this one step further, using county level employment data to define local labor markets at the level of neighboring counties. When adjacent counties straddle a state boundary and the states in question have contemporaneously different minimum wages, different parts of the labor market sort naturally into either the treatment or control group.

In the simplest specification of both of these approaches, all variation in the minimum wage is used (along with some other control variables) to explain all variation in employment just as in the canonical model. The incorporation of one set of dummy variables transforms this specification into a set of regional economies. In the two studies that use county level employment data, a different set of dummies transforms the analysis into a collection of QEs.¹⁴ In all three analyses, the simple, canonical model generates results that resemble those of other analyses that rely on the canonical model. In all three, the specifications that correspond to QEs have wage effects of the same size as or larger than those in the canonical model but the employment effects are uniformly not statistically significant and more often than not the point estimate is positive. The marriage of the two approaches, long-term panel and QE, responds to the major criticisms of each of the earlier approaches, that in the former the effect of the minimum wage is not well identified and in the latter, that it is a short term-case-study that cannot be reliably generalized.

In response to this line of work, Neumark, Salas and Wascher (2014) objected that the method for identifying observations to be controls and their matching to the treatment observations is ad hoc, and questioned whether the observations identified as controls are well suited for that function. The apparent solution is the synthetic control technique (Abadie, Diamond and Hainmueller 2010) which Sabia, Burkhauser and Hansen (2012) introduced to this literature as one of three OE analyses of the rise in New York's minimum wage in 2005 and 2006 (the other two being more conventional QEs using nearby states as controls). From a pre-specified list of untreated subjects, the synthetic control technique forms a weighted mean to be an optimal counterfactual (the synthetic control) for the treated subject. Done properly, the synthetic control closely resembles the treated subject before the treatment and it is necessary to calculate only the ex post difference instead of a difference-in-differences. Of the 25 states that did not experience a rise in the minimum wage during 2002-2006 (the sample period of the data used in Sabia, Burkhauser and Hansen 2012), this technique selected four to be part of the synthetic control. The two with greatest weight were among the controls that Sabia, Burkhauser and Hansen (2012) used in their more conventional analyses. Despite this, the ex-ante match was sufficiently poor that they felt it necessary to calculate the difference-in-differences using the synthetic control. The resulting point estimates were negative but not significant at a 0.05 level using their synthetic t-distribution.

The synthetic control technique is difficult to combine with the canonical framework of long panels because the minimum wage rises both frequently and asynchronously across states. Neumark, Salas and Wascher (2014) apply the technique for a subsample of about one quarter of the minimum wage changes that occurred in the U.S. from 1990q1-2011q2 but reject it because

"this subset of minimum wage increases (there are a total of 544 minimum wage increases in our sample period) appeared to be unusual in that it did not generate a significantly negative minimum wage effect using the modified panel data estimator described earlier." (p. 639)

¹⁴ The dummy variables effectively remove local labor markets with a uniform minimum wage from the analysis.

Instead, they develop an ad hoc technique that bears at least a superficial resemblance to that of Abadie, Diamond and Hainmueller (2010) and for which

"... the counterfactual observations could include observations with minimum wage increases; however, because these counterfactual observations contribute to both the estimated employment rate and the estimated minimum wage variables (as well as the other controls), this is not problematic." (p. 639)

By including states with minimum wage increases in the pool of potential donors to the synthetic control, they deprive their approach of much of the intuitive appeal that adheres to this technique. It also makes it difficult to understand just what its advantage is over not just a more conventional QE, but even over the canonical model. Both the qualitative similarity and the lack of a statistically significantly difference between these results and those of the canonical model, reinforce these doubts. Dube and Zipperer (2013) apply the technique of Abadie, Diamond and Hainmueller (2010) to part of the sub-sample that Neumark, Salas and Wascher (2014) rejected in favor of the whole sample. They report only three out of 19 statistically significant effects on employment at the 0.10 level (one positive, two negative) about what one would expect from a sample of this size if there is no effect.

After more than two decades of *NMWR*, the central points of methodological dispute are no longer about the appropriate analytical framework, as they were for much of that period. They are now about the best way to implement the QE framework and how best to select or construct appropriate controls for treatment observations.

3.2 Biased or Inconsistent Standard Errors

Complicating the assessment of the literature are problems with the estimated standard errors that raise serious questions about the reliability of the statistical inference it contains. The most common is serial correlation in panels and repeated cross sections (RCS) that is unaccounted for in the calculations. Bertrand, Duflo and Mullainathan (2004) is the best-known work to call attention to this issue, and Hansen (2007a, b) and Wolfson (2011) have confirmed their concern. Donald and Lang (2007) have called attention to a less common problem, inconsistent standard errors in the simple two-by-two difference-in-differences framework where it is plausible that the treatment and control dummies are picking up random shocks in addition to any effect of policy.

3.3 Static and Dynamic Modeling

Very early in the *NMWR*, Neumark and Wascher (1992) attempted to introduce dynamics into the effects of the minimum wage through inclusion of a lagged minimum wage terms among the explanatory variables. That is, the equation that they had carried over from the prior research on the minimum wage which relied on time-series data and which they modified for panel data,

$$Y_{it} = \alpha + \beta_{MW}MW_{it} + \underline{\beta'}\underline{X_{it}} + \underline{\theta'}YEAR_t + \underline{\psi'}\underline{S_i} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
 (1)

they further modified to

$$Y_{it} = \alpha + \beta_{MW_{(t)}} MW_{i(t)} + \beta_{MW_{(t-1)}} MW_{i(t-1)} + \underline{\beta' X_{it}} + \underline{\theta' YEAR_t} + \underline{\psi' S_i} + \varepsilon_{it}$$

$$(2)$$

The additional minimum wage term, $MW_{i(t-i)}$, reflect the value of the minimum wage in state i, year t-1. Neumark and Wascher (1992) explain equation (1) as a reduced form equation that accounts for the exogenous factors relevant to labor supply and demand. Purely static, it can be interpreted as reflecting an immediate adjustment of employment to any change in exogenous factors or equivalently as a long run relationship between employment and the exogenous factors on the right hand side. So long as the latter are constant, employment is as well. Equation (2) implies that the effect of the minimum wage on employment is more in the nature of a moving average, having a direct effect on employment in two consecutive years; Neumark and Wascher (1992) rationalized this specification on the basis of "either ... hiring and training costs, or ... an inability to adjust other inputs quickly."¹⁵

One way to think about the problems of equation (2) is that it is backward looking. Rather than optimizing over time in response to a changed environment, this equation models firms as being backward looking, responding to yesterday's minimum wage, whether or not it remains relevant. Consider a simple thought experiment. Suppose that starting from an economy at long run equilibrium, the minimum wage increases for one period and then returns to its previous value. According to equation (2) firms in the economy continue to respond to the previous, no longer relevant, value of the minimum wage after it has returned to its long run value. A more appropriate specification, at a slightly higher level of theoretical sophistication than the approach in equations (1) and (2) would begin by interpreting the former as an equilibrium value of employment where the economy settles if all variables on the right hand side remain unchanging,

$$Y_{it}^* = \alpha + \beta_{MW} M W_{it} + \underline{\beta'} \underline{X_{it}} + \underline{\theta'} Y E A R_t + \underline{\psi'} \underline{S_i}$$
 (3)

It would then impose a partial adjustment mechanism:

$$Y_{it} = Y_{i(t-1)} + \lambda (Y_{it}^* - Y_{i(t-1)}) + \varepsilon_{it}, \quad 0 < \lambda < 1$$
 (4)

¹⁵ Neumark and Wascher (1992), page 61 for discussion of the static equation and footnote 19 for the dynamic equation.

$$= \lambda \alpha + \lambda \beta_{MW} MW_{it} + \underline{\lambda \beta' X_{it}} + \underline{\lambda \theta' Y E A R_t} + \underline{\lambda \psi' S_i} + (1 - \lambda) Y_{i(t-1)} + \varepsilon_{it}$$

$$(5)^{16}$$

That is, rather than a lagged term of the minimum wage as in equation (2), equation (5) has a lagged term of the dependent variable. The presence of the lagged dependent variable means that estimation of equation (5) is more complicated but the specification is more coherent and satisfactory from an optimizing perspective. In addition, it does not single out the minimum wage for special treatment among the explanatory variables. Finally, it is more in keeping with a pure time series approach, which begins by modeling the dynamics of the dependent variable before looking for other explanatory variables. An alternative approach, more in the atheoretic, purely empirical spirit of equations (1) and (2), is first to select a lag structure for the dependent variable by minimizing an information criterion. Next, include all the exogenous variables of equation (1), both contemporaneously and with the same lags as the dependent variable, and finally, pare the equation using either panel granger causality tests or the general to specific methodology of Hendry (Campos, Ericsson and Hendry 2005).

While there has not been explicit discussion of the problems associated with the use of models similar to equation (2), they have virtually vanished from the research on OECD countries. This is less the case for research on developing countries.

4. Contemporary Research on the Minimum Wage in Low Income and Developing Countries

The body of research on the minimum wage in developing countries is large and growing steadily. The substantive findings have been ably reviewed by Nataraj, Perez-Arce & Kumar (2014), Broecke, Forti, & Vandeweyer (2015), and Betcherman (2013). The current review focuses on understanding the methodological aspects of this research and suggests steps which may be taken to make this research more useful to addressing current policy issues. We draw on these reviews, and a search of JSTOR for 2014 and 2013 to find articles to include in this review. We limit ourselves to empirical research on developing countries which has been published in English since 2000, uses econometric techniques to estimate the effects of the minimum wage, and is available on line. We found twenty-five articles which meet these criteria.¹⁷

As our discussion of identification, standard errors and static vs. dynamic models suggested, the last twenty years of research has provided insights into

¹⁶ This approach was common elsewhere in economics prior to the introduction of the Rational Expectations Hypothesis and the developments in econometric and time-series technique that followed in its wake.

¹⁷ Our search of the literature turned up more than 75 articles which listed "minimum wage" in the title, abstract or key words or appeared in the above cited reviews. Further review eliminated more than 50 because they were not accessible online, were not in English, did not include empirical estimates of the minimum wage effect, or embedded the minimum wage in an index of labor regulations or labor conditions which did not allow parsing the minimum wage effect. Research which embedded measures of the minimum wage into indices of labor regulation, but which did not allow calculation of a distinct minimum wage effect, were also not included in this review.

methodologies which provide reliable estimates as well as those which do not. Issues of inconsistently estimated standard errors, and consequent erroneous inference in certain classes of OE models with an insufficient number of "states" have been discussed by Donald and Lang (2007). Problems of downward bias in the estimation of standard errors when using panel data and not clustering errors by "state" have been identified by Bertrand, Duflo and Mullainathan (2004) and elaborated by Hansen (2007a, b) and Wolfson (2011). Faulty inference precludes knowing whether estimated effects characterize the population under study, leaving little to be learned from the research. Some of the 25 articles are therefore omitted from the discussion because of the issue identified by Donald and Lang. Another set of studies are omitted from discussion because of Bertrand et al. (2004) issue. Finally, articles which place arbitrary lags of the minimum wage in otherwise static models are unlikely to provide reliable estimates of the effect of the minimum wage. So they are omitted as well, as are studies where the small number of observations does not provide sufficient power in rejecting a null of no effect. The issues with correct inference were not known at the time when the research in many of these articles was conducted or when the articles were published. More recent studies have typically used more up-to-date methods.

The remaining ten articles are varied in their issues, methods and countries. Although they do not provide a comprehensive picture of the effect of the minimum wage across all low income and developing countries, they are a guide to successful approaches to estimating minimum wage effects. We classify and discuss these articles by outcome, starting with employment, moving on to studies of wages, and ending with the article on inflation. In those cases in which an article considers several outcomes, we discuss all of the outcomes in the initial discussion. Summary information about each study is included in the Annex (Table 1).

4.1 Articles Addressing Employment

Eight of the ten articles consider employment and employment related measures. Although studies that examine household data predominate in the minimum wage literature, both as a whole and in those that focus on low income and developing countries, more and more studies use data obtained from firm or establishment surveys. We start our discussion with three articles from this latter group, each of which uses annual data collected by the central government in national firm surveys.

Two of the studies report consequences for manufacturing firms of increases in the Indonesian minimum wage between 1990 and 1994 (Alatas and Cameron 2008; Harrison and Scorse 2010) and one (Mayneris, Poncet and Zhang 2014) reports on consequences for manufacturing, mining and public utilities of the 2004 increase in the national minimum wage in the People's Republic of China (China hereafter). Although the focus of Harrison and Scorse (2010) is antisweatshop activism, all three estimate the effect of the minimum wage on employment and wages, and the last two also consider its consequences for firm exit.

All three pay careful attention to the definition of treatment and control groups. Alatas and Cameron (2008), a quasi-experiment very similar to Card and Krueger's (2004) study of fast food establishments, looks at establishments in

adjacent administrative units on the Indonesian island of Java: the province of Jakarta and neighboring regions that are themselves part of greater Jakarta but are in the province of West Java, which had a lower minimum wage than Jakarta before 1996. To correct for the heterogeneity of firms in their sample (compared to the very homogeneous fast food restaurants used by Card and Krueger (1994)), Alatas and Cameron (2008) allocate firms to one of five categories based on average value added per worker and match firms in the two regions accordingly. 18 They also separately distinguish between small domestic establishments, large establishments 100% domestically owned and large establishments with some foreign ownership. Three western firms that hired Indonesian contractors, Nike, Adidas and Reebok, were the main targets of the anti-sweatshop campaign that was of interest to Harrison and Scorse (2010). They defined two treatment and corresponding control groups. The broad treatment group consisted of firms in the textiles, footwear and apparel (TFA) industries; firms in other industries made up the broad control group. They defined two treatment and corresponding control groups. The broad treatment group consisted of firms in the textiles, footwear and apparel (TFA) industries; firms in other industries made up the broad control group. The narrow treatment group consisted of TFA establishments in districts where Nike, Adidas and Reebok contractors are located; TFA establishments in other districts comprise the control group. Harrison and Scorse's measure of the minimum wage is constructed as an exposure variable, equal to the log-difference of the minimum wage between 1996 and 1998 for establishments whose 1990 average wage is less than the 1996 minimum wage, and 0 for those whose 1990 average wage exceeds the 1996 minimum wage. This captures the effect of the minimum wage on establishments which, on average, paid less than the 1996 minimum wage. Because it is not interacted with the anti-sweatshop variable, it measures the effect of the minimum wage on all low wage establishments.

The institutional situation in China is somewhat different, because the decision on minimum wage setting is shared between national and local authorities. This complexity creates useful variation in the minimum wage across metropolitan areas. Mayneris, Poncet and Zhang (2014) link firm data between 2003 and 2005 and define firms as exposed to the minimum wage if their *ex ante* average wage was below the new city minimum wage. Exposed firms comprised the treatment group, while those in the control group were firms with an *ex ante* average wage above the new minimum. The structure of the data allows comparison between exposed and control firms within metropolitan areas, as well as between exposed firms in metropolitan areas with different levels of the minimum wage, allowing a difference in difference in difference comparison. Instrumental variables are used to control for the endogeneity of the minimum wage, an issue if more successful metropolitan areas set a higher minimum wage than less prosperous metro areas.

All three studies report that at least among surviving establishments, a higher minimum wage is associated with higher wages. Harrison and Scorse (2010) find that higher minimum wages are associated with a higher average wage, especially in firms subject to anti-sweatshop campaigns. Although they do not use their firm-level data to examine the response of wages, Alatas and Cameron (2008)

. .

¹⁸ The per-capita value added figures are calculated from the period when the minimum wages in the two regions were the same, 1996, so that they would not reflect differences in the minimum wage.

present evidence that wages rose more in the West Javan districts that had a lower minimum wage at the beginning of their sample period. In China, where firm exit played an important role, Mayneris, Poncet and Zhang (2014) report that wages increased among surviving firms.

The employment effects vary both across and within studies, something that should not be a surprise in light of not only the differences in institutional characteristics of the two countries but also the differences in focus across studies (both sets of differences are reflected in the analytic frameworks). Alatas and Cameron (2008) report clear evidence that employment of production workers declined in small domestically owned firms, but was unaffected in both large domestic firms and large firms with some foreign ownership; and that total employment declined in small domestic firms but rose in large, domestically owned firms. Harrison and Scorse (2010) reported a negative employment elasticity of -0.13 among surviving firms. In China, Mayneris, Poncet and Zhang (2014) report that employment rises in firms that did not exit, and that when they aggregate to the metropolitan level, no overall effect on employment is detectible.

Turning to exit and other outcomes, Alatas and Cameron (2008) report no consequences of the minimum wage on net exit (the number of firms). In contrast, Harrison and Scorse (2010) find that increases in the minimum wage did raise firm exits. In perhaps the most interesting result, Mayneris, Poncet and Zhang (2014) report no overall effect on exit, but that exposed firms are more likely to exit than control firms. The authors conclude that the rise in the minimum wage resulted in the exit of firms with low labor productivity, but that the "shock" of the increase resulted in surviving firms improving their productivity as an adjustment to the higher minimum wage. Besides a research design which takes full advantage of the structure of the data, consideration of exit, employment and wages, as well as metro area employment, provides a broad view of the outcomes of the minimum wage.

Two related themes recur in the articles that rely on household surveys: the distinction between the formal and informal sectors of the economy, and the degree of compliance with labor regulations including minimum wage laws. Gindling and Terrell (2009) consider the effect of Honduras's complex minimum wage laws on wages and employment, reporting "that higher MWs may create more unemployment and may transfer some employment from large private sector firms to small firms, where there is no compliance with MWs." (p. 291) In their study of compliance and the effect of the minimum wage on wages and employment, Strobl & Walsh (2003) explicitly use differences in firm size to distinguish the two sectors.¹⁹ Rather than presume that firm size can proxy for the two sectors, Papps (2012) relies on whether individuals are registered with the Turkish social security to determine the sector in which they work. Dinkelman and Ranchhod (2012) limit their sample to one occupation in the informal economy, domestic workers, and report substantial compliance despite limited monitoring and enforcement. Finally, Soundararajan's (2014) study of the Indian construction industry relates labor market consequences of the minimum wage to enforcement and compliance.

_

¹⁹ "However, according to the International Labour Organization, one of the defining characteristics of firms operating in the informal sector is their size; generally, they employ fewer than 10 persons." (p. 432)

Each of these studies uses national household surveys, but in part because of differences among the surveys, they take varied approaches including in measuring the effect of the minimum wage. Gindling and Terrell (2009) aggregate data from *The Permanent Household Survey for Multiple Purposes*, a Honduran household survey typically conducted semi-annually, into an industry by time panel. Following the approach used in research with the canonical model, the minimum wage is measured as the log of the real minimum wage by sector and time. Although not formally divided into treatment and control groups, separate equations are estimated for large and small firms in the covered sector, the public sector and the self-employed. Large firms are taken as a proxy for the formal sector, small firms as a proxy for the informal sector, while the self-employed are treated as the control. The estimates allow for endogenous causation with instrumental variables and the Arellano and Bond (1991) GMM panel estimation technique.²⁰

Strobl & Walsh (2003) construct a short period longitudinal data set from the Continuous Sample Survey of Household Data for Trinidad and Tobago from 1996 to 1998 which they use to estimate whether an individual remains employed and whether their post-implementation wage is in compliance with the minimum wage (whether they earn more than the new minimum wage after implementation of a national minimum wage in April, 1998).²¹ The CSSH is a quarterly survey with individuals remaining in the sample for three quarters. With individuals observed both before and after the increase in the minimum wage, a difference in difference model is estimated for both the likelihood of employment and the likelihood of compliance. The treatment group is defined to be those who earned less than the minimum wage prior to its implementation, and the control group those earning more than the minimum in the pre-implementation period. The implementation variable is entered both by itself and interacted with a firm size measure to determine if there are different effects in the formal (large firm) and informal (small firm) sectors. The research focuses exclusively on private sector employees, with the self-employed and public employees not included in the estimates. The division of the sample by gender allows for differential effects on men and women within each sector.

Not all small firms in developing and low income countries are in the informal sector; law, engineering and similar firms are often small, but are part of the formal sector. Turkish household data, which includes a measure of individuals' participation in the social security system, is a superior measure of participation in the formal sector than the measures of firm size or sector of employment used in other studies. Papps (2012) takes advantage of this feature of *Turkish Household Labor Force Survey* to construct a QE for longitudinal data on individuals from 2002 to 2005. Papps extends Currie and Fallick's (1995) work on the minimum wage by including the effects of both the minimum wage and an increase in the social security employer tax in Turkey. Although the structure of these two systems is very different, Papps uses their computed effect on employer

²⁰ The survey includes information on industry of employment for those who are employed and some information on firm characteristics.

²¹ Trinidad and Tobago implemented a national minimum wage in April, 1998 in response to a World Bank report urging such action.

labor costs as a common metric. The treatment group is individuals who are registered in the social security system and whose earnings are sufficiently low to be affected by the increase in the minimum wage. Papps considers three control groups, one consisting of registered individuals earning above the new minimum wage, a second of unregistered workers who are bound by the new minimum wage, and a third of unregistered workers who are earning less than the old minimum wage.²²

Domestic workers are proto-typical informal sector employees. Dinkelman and Ranchhod (2012) take advantage of South Africa's extension of minimum wage coverage to domestic workers in November 2002 employees, to estimate the effect on wages, employment and coverage under protective labor law. The research uses the South African Individual Labour Force Survey, household micro-data collected at six month intervals from September 2001 to March 2004, with a rotational structure which keeps individuals in the survey for five waves; this last feature makes it possible to estimate a OE model with individual fixed effects. The treatment group consists of women employed as domestic workers, while the control group is made up of demographically similar women employed outside of the domestic sector. The minimum wage is somewhat unusual in using a provincial wage gap, the ratio of the minimum wage to either all urban domestic workers or to male manufacturing workers in the base period. The effect of the minimum wage is estimated with both a post-implementation indicator and an interaction between that that indicator and the provincial wage gap measure. The model explicitly adjusts for the Donald and Lang issue as well as issues with clustering when there are few cross sectional units.²³

Issues of compliance and enforcement are central to the work of Soundararajan (2014), a study of the effect enforcement of the minimum wage on wages and employment in the Indian construction industry. Using household data from 2004 to 2012 from the *Indian National Sample Survey*, he estimates a RCS model with time and state fixed effects and controls for real construction workers GDP, age, gender, urban/rural location and caste. The real minimum wage is classified into 4 quartiles as are the number of minimum wage inspectors by state and year. These dummies are interacted to create 16 outcomes, with the lowest quartile of the inspector variable used as the base group for each minimum wage classification.

Estimates of wage, employment and compliance are mixed by sector and gender, with no simple pattern across studies. Gindling and Terrell (2009) report a positive wage effect in the large firm covered sector and the public sector, and a large negative employment effect in the IV and GMM models in the large firm covered sector. There is no wage effect or employment effect in the small firm sector, which they take as evidence of non-compliance and support for the hypothesis that firm size is an accurate proxy for membership in the informal

²² Use of varied control groups addresses Card and Krueger's (1995) concern that comparison to groups earning above the new minimum wage may conflate the greater stability of higher wage jobs with the effect of the minimum wage.

²³ The preferred version of the model includes controls for age, education and whether the individual was African. As noted by Card and Kreuger (1994), Kaitz ratio measures such as this have a negative correlation with employment, and may have a positive correlations with wages, by construction.

sector.²⁴ Strobl and Walsh report that for men in Trinidad and Tobago, only those working for large firms had an increased likelihood of earning above the new minimum wage; there was no increase in the likelihood of the wages of men working for small firms rising above the minimum wage. This pattern was reversed for women. The likelihood of earning more than the new minimum wage was estimated to increase for all employed women but there was no specific large firm effect. There is no employment effect on male or female employment when a measure of whether the individual is bound by the new minimum wage is used; but a negative employment effect is found for men in large firms when the minimum wage is measured by the wage gap ^{25, 26} Papps, who only considers employment, reports a negative employment effect relative to the high wage control, but not relative to the low wage controls. Estimates of employment elasticities for the low wage controls are very small and not statistically significant. Dinkelman and Ranchhod (2012) find that the extension of the minimum wage raised wages for South African domestic workers but did not affect hours or employment. There is evidence of partial compliance with protective labor legislation for domestic workers. Soundararajan finds that, relative to the lowest levels of enforcement, the 2nd quartile of enforcement (i.e., number of inspectors) is associated with reduced employment and wages, but the 3rd and 4th are associated with higher employment and wages. Neither wage nor employment effects vary by the level of the minimum wage. This is counterintuitive and suggests that the complex set of interactions between the minimum wage and the number of inspectors may proxy for other variables.²⁷

4.2 The Minimum Wage and Earnings Inequality

Only one of the ten articles considers the increasingly important issue of earnings inequality. Following the methods developed by Lee (1999) and by Autor, Manning and Smith (2009), Bosch and Mancorda (2010) use a household survey of urban areas to estimate the effect of the minimum wage in urban Mexico on income inequality. The data, which cover the years from 1989 to 2001, come from a national household survey conducted by the Mexican government. The dependent variable in the panel estimates is the percentile wage gap at the 10th, 20th, 30th, 40th, 50th and 60th percentile of the municipal wage distribution, relative to the wage at the 70th percentile. The measure of the minimum wage is a quadratic function of the difference between the log of the minimum wage and the log of the actual wage at the 70th percentile for the municipality. The controls include interacted year and state dummies, the share of workers in each wage group, ad valorem taxes, the share of workers by

²⁴ There are potential issues with the implicit constraints on serial correlation in the error term of the GMM model; but this is a carefully thought out approach which addresses several of the issues of panel estimates.

²⁵ The models which are RCS with fixed effects, do not cluster data, raising concerns about BDM issues but the brevity of the time period considered makes this problem unlikely.

²⁶ Unfortunately, because Stroble and Walsh do not estimate a model in which the wage, rather than an indicator of earning more than the new minimum, is the dependent variable, their estimates does not provide insight into whether the wages of those employed in the informal sector improved in response to the new minimum wage.

²⁷ As estimates are not provided for each these variables, it is difficult to obtain a clear understanding of the effect of the minimum wage on wages and employment.

educational group, the female share of the population and the distribution of employment by one digit industry. Estimates are obtained for the population as a whole, as well as for men and women and for those employed in the formal and informal sectors. Higher real minimum wages reduce wage inequality for both men and women, but the effect extends further up the male than the female wage distribution. Although higher minimum wages reduce earnings inequality in the formal sector, there is no impact on the informal sector. The authors report that the decline in the Mexican real minimum wage has increased the 10/50 wage difference by 1.4 to 1.6% annually. A useful feature of the article is the detailed discussion of their adaptation to Mexico's monthly minimum wage of the Lee/Autor, Manning and Smith methodology, which was originally developed for an hourly minimum wage.

4.3 The Minimum Wage and Inflation

There are periodic concerns that increases in the minimum wage may be a source of inflation in both developed and developing economies. Cuong (2011) builds a contemporary time series model of inflation, allowing for unit roots, to examine the effect of contemporary, lagged and leading minimum wage measures on inflation. Using the monthly consumer price index of the Department of Trade and Price of the General Statistics Office of Vietnam, the author systematically estimates the lag structure for prices and then considers the effect of the minimum wage in two and seven month windows. Cuong reports no evidence that the minimum wage affected inflation, but some evidence of seasonality in price levels around the new year.

5. Advancing Research on the Minimum Wage in Developing and Low Income Countries

The last two decades have seen a remarkable expansion of the literature on the minimum wage with greater variety in techniques, data and outcomes than in the preceding decades. This body of work provides insights into methods which generate reliable and precise estimates, as well as those which do not. In looking toward advancing research on the impact of the minimum wage in low income and developing countries, we make some suggestions on methodologies, on steps which can be taken to improve the quality of this research, and also on issues which are important but under-researched.

A strength of the new minimum wage research has been the blossoming of methods, data and outcomes. Once largely the domain of aggregate time series on the employment of teens, current research is notably varied in methods, data sets, measures of the minimum wage and outcomes. The growth of this literature has expanded our knowledge both of the effect of the minimum wage, and the methodologies needed to measure that effect. It has also demonstrated that there is not, and likely will never be, "the one best way" to estimate the effects of the minimum wage.

Emerging from this variety has been better understanding about what does, and does not, result in useful estimates. There is movement toward the use of quasi-experiments. This is less a matter of adopting specific techniques than of greater thoughtfulness in the construction of comparisons between experimental

and control groups. Allegretto, Dube and Reich (2009) have demonstrated that canonical panel data models can be converted into quasi-experimental models through better definition of control groups. Clearly, greater thoughtfulness in defining experimental and control groups is increasingly required of research on this issue.

The last two decades of research have also pointed toward the need for greater care in model construction. For example, the issues with measures of the relative minimum wage, and its "baked in" negative correlation with employment, have been known for more at least two decades. Unfortunately, variants on such measures have been widely used in the literature on developing and low income countries. Similarly, the introduction of arbitrary lags in the minimum wage in static panel models has largely vanished from the literature on the OECD countries, but continues to be widely used in the literature reviewed in this research. Estimates from such models are almost certainly biased by correlations with other lagged variables and the standard errors for these estimates are unreliable.

Research on developing countries has tended to follow research on the OECD, but the issues facing developing countries are somewhat different and broader than those facing the OECD countries. Developing countries are more likely to have sectors which are not covered by minimum wage laws, and those sectors are considerably larger than the uncovered sector in the OECD countries. Many of the current studies of developing countries address the issue of the effect on the uncovered sector. A central issue in these studies is the definition of the uncovered sector which is too often proxied by firm size or similarly inexact measures. Occasionally direct measures of informality/coverage are available, as in Turkish data with its indicator of inclusion in the social security system. Where they are not available, firm and establishment data may provide more accurate divisions between formal/covered and informal/uncovered sectors. As suggested by Belser and Sobeck (2012), studies of the effect of the minimum wage on the formal and informal sectors should also specifically consider the effect on wages in the informal sector. Although early theorizing about coverage and uncovered sectors emphasized that the displacement of workers from the covered to the uncovered sectors will cause wages to decline in the latter, research of the last two decades suggests a lighthouse effect. In the presence of a lighthouse effect, wages in the uncovered sector will rise in response to a legislated increase in the minimum wage in the covered sector. Whether the displacement or lighthouse effect dominates is, an empirical issue which can best be understood through additional research. It is then important that research on the effect of the minimum wage on the uncovered/informal sector include estimates of wage as well as employment effects. Another issue of considerable importance is the effect of the minimum wage on household income. This is central to evaluating the effect of the minimum wage as, if the minimum wage does not improve household income (or keep income constant while reducing hours), it does not achieve its key purpose.

A final issue is determining the level at which the minimum wage should be set. This issue is central to policy makers, both those in countries which do not have a minimum wage but are considering its implementation, and in countries which already have a minimum wage and make a choice about changing its level.

There is currently little to no research determining whether the effects of the minimum wage on employment, wages, income, and the distribution of employment between the covered and uncovered sectors is affected by the level of the minimum wage relative to the distribution of earnings of the country, state or region. We do not know if employment effects are always small, or whether they become an issue as the minimum wage rises beyond 50%, 60% or 70% of median income. Yet this is exactly the information of greatest interest to policy makers as it would allow them to set a level of the minimum wage which maximizes the social benefits.

Given both broad knowledge of what does and does not produce reliable results, and a need to broaden current research to better address issues of concern to policy makers, an issue is how to direct research toward the goals of greater policy relevance and better methods. Influencing the direction of research is challenging, particularly for organizations without large research budgets. One approach is to establish conferences to disseminate current learning, thereby pointing researchers toward the most recent methods and issues. Topical conferences which attract a mixture of established and new researchers on panels are effective in eliciting strong research, and, by disseminating current learning, improving future research and directing toward questions of current interest. A second approach is using grants to encourage good practice. This can be done through screening of grant proposals by panels of experts who not only highlight the best submissions, but also provide feedback on improvements to both those who obtain grants, and those who look toward future success.

Vetting by expert panels could also be extended as a "service" to researchers. Institutions interested in furthering research on the minimum wage could cooperate in establishing technical boards, similar to those used by U.S. Federal Agencies, to evaluate research proposals and provide guidance on research design. In the late 1990s, the journal *Industrial Relations* implemented a variant of this by having minimum wage research refereed on design, prior to estimation (Neumark, 2001). Although this experiment resulted in only one article, the approach has the promise of improving the quality of research and decreasing partisan biases. From the prospective of researchers, methodological review offers the possibility of improved research and better placement of articles. International organizations such as the ILO and World Bank could cooperate in either directly establishing a review group, or supporting a group of economists to act as a technical board.

A final point is that, until there is more careful research on developing countries, further meta-analyses of the effect of minimum wages on developing countries are not needed. There are a sufficient number currently available. What is needed is additional careful work to provide high quality estimates for future meta-analyses.

Annex

Table 1: Summary of Characteristics of Empirical Articles on the Effect of the Minimum Wage in Low Income and Developing Countries

Table 1: Summary of Characteristics of Empirical Articles on the Effect of the Minimum Wage in Low Income and Developing Countries

	De	pendent Variable		Fra	mework for Estimat	tion				Data					Specificati	ion
CITATION	TARGET GROUP	DEPENDENT VARIABLE	ТҮРЕ	METHOD	LAGGED?	ISSUES WITH ERROR STRUCTURE?	COUNTRY	PERIOD	DATA SOURCE	UNIT OF OBSERVATION	GEOGRAPHIC AGGREGATION	TEMPORAL AGGREGATION	DATA STRUCTURE	MEASURE OF THE MINIMUM WAGE	RESULT	OTHER REGRESSORS
Alatas, V. and L. Cameron, "The Impact of Minimum Wages on Employment in a Low-Income Country: A Quasi-natural Experiment in Indonesia," Industrial and Labor Relations Review, (Jan, 2008), Vol. 61, n. 2, pp 201-223.	manufacturing esrablishments in Jakarta and West Java	employment	continuous	QE with careful matching of firms by employee value added	no	possible in panel estimates but the time series are relatively short	Indonesia	1990-1996	annual survey of manufacturing firms	establishment	two regions	year	longitudinal	the log of the minimum wage for models in which there is pooled data, otherwise timewise interactions	Evidence suggests that there are no effects for large domestic or foreign firms but a negative employment effect for small domestic firms.	Comparisons broken out by firm size and ownership as well as VA per employee classes some with year and establishment FE
Dinkelman, T & V. Ranchard, "Evidence on the Impact of Minimum Wage Laws in an Informal Sector: Domestic Workers in South Africa," <i>Journal of Development Economics</i> , vol 99 (2012) 27-45	All urban African and colored women aged 20 to 59 who report domestic work in the week before the survey who do not owr a business, have no more than a high school level of education, and are employed or looking for work.	wages, hours, employment, benefits	discrete and continuous	QE; some estimates use IV & adjust for the Donald and Lang issue	no	uses clustering and IV	South Africa	Sept 2001 - March 2004	South African Labour Force Survey	r individual	province	twice a year	RCS	ratio of the national minimum wage to the median provincial wage and median provincial wage in manufacturing	strong evidence of an effect on wages; no effect on employment or weekly hours of work; no change in labor rights	age, education, African
Grindling, T. H. and K. Terrell, "Minimum Wages, Wage and Employment in Various Sector in Honduras," Labour Economics, (2009), Vol. 16, pp. 291-303.	employees at large and small firms, public sector and self employed	log of the mean hourly wage by industry/sector in the wage equation; log of employment in the employment equation	Continuous	FE; IV, GMM (Arrellano-Bond)	lagged wage in the wage equation; lagged employment in the employment equation; no lagged minimum wage	requires no autocorrelation in idiosyncratic errors. See xtabond (STATA)	Honduras	1990-2004	Permanent Household Survey for Multiple Purposes	Time/industry/sector	none	semi-annual	industry/panel	The log of the real MW in the wage equation; both this and the fraction within 10% of the MW in the employment equation. Note that Honduras has many MW's	Positive effect on wages in the large firm and public sector (uncovered).Large significant negative effect on large firm employment in IV and GMM estimates. No effect on self-employed or small firm sector	industry, sector, time, average values of years of education, experience, exp2, % male, % urban, log of real GDP by industry and time. Some models include industry fixed effects and aggregate supply and demand along with survey change information
Harrison, A & J Scorse, "Multinationals and Anti-Sweatshop Activism," <i>American Economic Review</i> , Vol 100, No. 1 (March 2010) pp 247-273	Textile, Footwear and Apparel sector establishments compared to non TF&A firms, or region with Nike, Reebok or Adidas contractors vs. regions without such contractors. Some models incorporate MW measures	mfg. employment,	discrete and continuous	Difference in Differences	no	Uses OLS error structure in a DID model	Indonesia	Some estimates compare 1990 to 1996; some panels estimate the effect for 1990 to 1996.	annual survey of manufacturing the Indonesian Government Statistical Agency	firm	province	annual	longitudinal	An exposure variable. For firms with a base period average wage below the post increase minimum, it is the log of the current MW less the 1990 MW; 0 otherwise	MW is positively associated with higher wages but there are negative employment effects and increases in the likelihood of plant exit. Employment elasticity is around -0.13. Some evidence that treatment firm's wages go up more with increases in the MW.	price changes, changes in capital stock, material inputs, technology expenditures, tfp growth, change in firm size, worker characteristics
Mayneris, F, S. Poncet and T. Zhang, The Cleansing Effect of Minimum Wage: Minimum Wage Rules, Firm Dynamics and Aggregate Productivity in China, August, 2014, https://ideas.repec.org/p/cii/cepidt/2014-16.html.	Chinese firms in mfg., mining and public utilities	Firm exit post minimum wage; firm employment; firm survival & metropolitan employment in target industries	discrete and continuous	QE	no	Uses OLS and IV, heteroskedastic consistent	China	change in	annual firm survey of the National Bureau of Statistics	firm	city	annual; two observations	cross section DID		It also increases average wages, employment and labor productivity among	Depending on the equation, the model can include FE for sector or city-sector, firm wage, employment, and labor productivity, ownership and whether the firm exports.

Table 1: Summary of Characteristics of Empirical Articles on the Effect of the Minimum Wage in Low Income and Developing Countries

	De	pendent Variable		Fra	mework for Estima	tion					Specification					
CITATION	TARGET GROUP	DEPENDENT VARIABLE	ТҮРЕ	METHOD	LAGGED?	ISSUES WITH ERROR STRUCTURE?	COUNTRY	PERIOD	DATA SOURCE	UNIT OF OBSERVATION	GEOGRAPHIC AGGREGATION	TEMPORAL AGGREGATION	DATA STRUCTURE	MEASURE OF THE MINIMUM WAGE	RESULT	OTHER REGRESSORS
Papps, K.L., "the Effects of Social Security Taxes and Minimum Wages on Employment: Evidence from Turkey," ILRR, vol65, no 3, July, 2012 686-707.	Low wage covered workers who are bound by the MW increase	(Change in) Employment across 3 or 9 months	dummy	QE comparing workers bound by the increase in the MW to three control groups (those immediately above the new MW in the covered sector), workers in the uncovered sector who are between the old and new MW; and uncovered workers below the old MW.	no	none beyond the usual issues with probit	Turkey	2002-2005	Household Labor Force Survey	individual	national study	quarterly	longitudinal	The measure is a measure of the change in labor costs associated with increases in the minimum wage or in social security payments. In periods where neither changes, it has a value of 0.	Both increases in the MW and Social Security tax are associated with reductions in employment, but the MW effect is about half the size of the Social Security tax effect. When decomposed by treatment group (concern with higher wage group having more stable jobs), MW is associated with reduced employment against higher wage treatment but not against low wage treatment groups. MW employment elasticities are generally very small and nonsignificant. Many sensitivity tests	quarter dummies age sex urhan
Strobl, E. and F. Walsh, "Minimum Wages and Compliance: The Case of Trinidad and Tobago," Economic Development and Cultural Change, (January, 2003), Vol. 51, n. 2, pp. 427-450.	low wage workers in T&T	Whether individuals are employed and paid at least the minimum wage in the post implementation period	discrete and continuous	RCS with probit estimate for job loss	no	no clustering of SE but the time period is brief, reducing concerns with serial correlation	Trinidad & Tobago	1996 -1998	Survey of Population	household with households surveyed 3 times, once, a year later and then one quarter later	region	annual and seasonal	RCS	QE in which experimental group is defined by period and exposure (low wage in initial period)	Men employed by large firms are more likely to be paid more than the MW in the second period, but there is no effect on men employed by small firms. There is a positive effect on all women's likelihood of earning more than the minimum wage, but there is no specific large firm effect. There is no employment effect for men bound by the new minimum wage, but there is a negative effect for men when the MW is measured by the wage gap in large firms. For women there is no employment loss with either variable.	gender, age, marital status, schooling urban and firm size (where large is 10 or more). There are industry, occupation, region, seasonal and year dummies.
8 Cuong, Nguyen Viet, "Do minimum Wage Increases Cause Inflation? Evidence from Vietnam," <i>ASEAN Economics Bulletin</i> , Vol 28, No 3 (December 2011) pp 337 359	-inflation	Consumer Price index	continuous	FGLS allowing for autocorrelation	lagged dependent variables in some models	test for and reject unit roots;	Vietnam	Jan., 1994 - Dec 2008	Department of Trade and Price, General Statistics Office		country wide	monthly	univariate time series	dummies with a two month and seven month window following a MW increase and a four month windows around monthly minimum wage was increased		lagged inflation, annual GDP growth, annual growth of the real state budget, annual growth in the real money supply, monthly U.S. CPI, seasonality controls
Soundararajan, V. 'Minimum Wage Effects at Different Enforcement levels: Evidence from Employment Surveys in India," We 2014-12 (April, 2014), C.H. Dyson School of Applied Economics and Management, Cornell University.	Unskilled, illiterate construction workers	construction employment, days worked in construction during survey week and wages	discrete and continuous	OLS and IV regression	yes, lagged minimum wage is included in the MW measure and its interaction with the enforcement variable. This may be irrelevant as the MW measure is then converted into a quartile measure.		India	2004-2012	Indian National Sample Survey	individual in household	none	annual	RCS	wage inspectors. The		Model includes state and year FE, log of real construction workers GDP, age, social group (scheduled caste), gender, and sector (rural or urban)

Table 1: Summary of Characteristics of Empirical Articles on the Effect of the Minimum Wage in Low Income and Developing Countries

		De	pendent Variable		Fra	amework for Estima	tion				Data	Specification					
	CITATION	TARGET GROUP	DEPENDENT VARIABLE	ТҮРЕ	METHOD	LAGGED?	ISSUES WITH ERROR STRUCTURE?	COUNTRY	PERIOD	DATA SOURCE	UNIT OF OBSERVATION	GEOGRAPHIC AGGREGATION	TEMPORAL AGGREGATION	DATA STRUCTURE	MEASURE OF THE MINIMUM WAGE	RESULT	OTHER REGRESSORS
10	Bosch, M. and M. Manacorda, "Minimum Wages and Earnings Inequality in Urban Mexico," <i>American Economic Journal: Applied Economics</i> , Vol. 2, n. 4 (October, 2010) pp. 128-149	Employed workers in metropolitan areas	Percentile wage gap between the nth percentile and the 70th percentile of the wage distribution	Continuous	Linear RCS regression model	No	Following Lee and Autor uses IV estimation	Mexico	1980-2001	ENEU - Ensuesta Nacional de Empleo Urbano	municipalities	Metropolitan Area	Annual - survey is quarterly but only the first quarter is used	RCS	The log of the nominal minimum wage in the municipality.	A higher minimum wage reduces inequality between lower wage deciles the and 70th decile for men & women and for both and for those employed in the formal sector. The authors find that rising inequality in the bottom of the wage distribution is due to a declining real minimum wage.	Municipal fixed effects, state by year fixed effects and municipal trends

GLOSSARY of LESS COMMON ACRONYMS & ABBREVIATIONS

DID: Difference in Differences

FE: Fixed Effects

FGLS: Feasible Generalized Least Squares

QE: Quasi-Experiment

RCS: Repeated Cross Section

Bibliography

- Abadie, Alberto, Alexis Diamond, and Jens Hainmueller. 2010. "Synthetic Control Methods for Comparative Case Studies: Estimating the Effect of California's Tobacco Control Program." *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 105 (June): 493-505
- Alatas, V. and L. Cameron, "The Impact of Minimum Wages on Employment in a Low-Income Country: A Quasi-natural Experiment in Indonesia, " *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, (Jan, 2008), Vol. 61, n. 2, pp 201-223.
- Allegretto, Sylvia A., Arindrajit Dube, and Michael Reich. 2009. "Spatial Heterogeneity and Minimum Wages: Estimates for Teens Using Cross-State Commuting Zones." IRLE Working Paper No. 181-09. Berkeley, CA: University of California, Berkeley, Institute for Research on Labor and Employment.
- Allegretto, Sylvia A., Arindrajit Dube, and Michael Reich. 2011. "Do Minimum Wages Really Reduce Teenage Employment? Accounting for Heterogeneity and Selectivity in State Panel Data." *Industrial Relations* 50 (April): 205-240.
- Arango C. A. and A. Pachon, "Minimum Wages in Colombia: Holding the Middle with a Bite on the Poor, "Banco de la Republica, February 6, 2004, http://www.banrep.gov.co/docum/ftp/borra280.pdf
- Autor, D., Alan Manning, and Charles L. Smith. 2010. "The Contribution of the Minimum Wage to U.S. Wage Inequality over Three Decades: A Reassessment." Working Paper No. 16533: Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Belman and Wolfson, *What Does the Minimum Wage Do?*, Kalamazoo: Upjohn Institute for Employment Research, 2014, 461 pp.
- Bell, L.A., "The impact of minimum wages in Mexico and Colombia" *Journal of Labor Economics* 15(3): pp. 103-35
- Belser, P and K. Sobeck, "At What Level Should Countries Set Their Minimum Wages?, *International Journal of Labour Research* (2012), Vol. 4, n. 1, pp. 105-127.
- Bertrand, Marianne, Esther Duflo, and Sendhil Mullainathan. 2004. "How Much Should We Trust Differences-in-Differences Estimates?" *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 119 (February): pp. 249-275.
- Betcherman, G, "Labour Market Institutions: A Review of the Literature," University of Ottawa, Background paper for the World Development Report 2013. http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTNWDR2013/Resources/8258024-1320950747192/8260293-1320956712276/8261091-1348683883703/WDR2013
- Bhorat, H, R. Kanbur and N. Mayet, "The Impact of Sectoral Minimum Wage Laws on Employment, Wages and Hours in South Africa," *IZA Journal of Labor and Development*, (2013): Vol. 2, n. 1, pp 1-27.
- Bhorat, H, R. Kanbur and N. Mayet, "Estimating the Impact of Minimum Wages on Employment, Wages and Non-Wage Benefits: The Case of Agriculture in South Africa," *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, (June, 2014), Vol. 96, n. 5, pp 1402-1419.
- Broecke, S., A. Forti, and M. Vandeweyer, *The Effect of Minimum Wage on Employment in Emerging Economies: A Literature Review*, monograph;

- Brown, Charles, Curtie Gilroy, and Andrew Kohen. 1982. "The Effect of the Minimum Wage on Employment and Unemployment." *Journal of Economic Literature* 20 (June): 487–528.
- Bosch, M. and M. Manacorda, "Minimum Wages and Earnings Inequality in Urban Mexico," *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, Vol. 2, n. 4 (October, 2010) pp. 128-149.
- Campos, Julia, Neil R. Ericsson, and David F. Hendry. 2005. "General-to-specific Modeling: An Overview and Selected Bibliography," International Finance Discussion Paper Number 838 (August). Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
- Card, David. (1992). "Do Minimum Wages Reduce Employment? A Case Study of California, 1987-89." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 46 (October): 38-54.
- Card, David, and Alan B. Krueger. 1994. "Minimum Wages and Employment: A Case Study of the Fast-Food Industry in New Jersey and Pennsylvania." *American Economic Review* 84 (September): 772–793.
- Card, David, Lawrence F. Katz, and Alan B. Krueger. 1994. "Comment on David Neumark and William Wascher, "Employment Effects of Minimum and Subminimum Wages: Panel Data on State Minimum Wage Laws." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*. 47 (April): 487-497.
- Comola, M. and L. de Mello, "How Does Decentralized Minimum Wage Setting Affect Employment and Informality? The Case of Indonesia," *The Review of Income and Wealth*, Series 57, Special issue, May 2011, pp. S79-S99.
- Cuong, N. V., "Do Minimum Wage Increases Cause Inflation? Evidence from Vietnam," ASEAN Economics Bulletin, (December 2011), Vol. 28, n. 3, pp 337-359.
- Currie, Janet, and Bruce C. Fallick. 1996. "The Minimum Wage and the Employment of Youth: Evidence from the NLSY." *Journal of Human Resources* 31 (Spring): 404-428.
- Christ, C. F. 1994. "The Cowles Commission's Contributions to Econometrics at Chicago, 1939-1955." *Journal of Economic Literature* XXXII (March): 30-59.
- Ding, S., "Employment Effect of Minimum Wage Regulation and Cross Effect of the Employment Contracts Law," *Social Sciences in China*, (July, 2010), Vol. 31, n. 3, pp.146-167
- Dinkelman, T. and V. Ranchard, "Evidence on the Impact of Minimum Wage Laws in the Informal Sector: Domestic Workers in South Africa," *Journal of Development Economics*, (2012), Vol. 99, pp. 27-45.
- Donald, Stephen G., and Kevin Lang. 2007. "Inference with Difference-in-Differences and Other Panel Data." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 89 (May): 221-233.
- Dube, A., T. W. Lester, and M. Reich. 2010. "Minimum Wage Effects Across State Borders: Estimates Using Contiguous Counties." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 92 (November): 945-964.
- Dube, A., and B. Zipperer. 2013. "Pooled Synthetic Control Estimates for Recurring Treatments: an Application to Minium Wage Case Studies." Mimeo (November 1). Amherst, MA: University of Massachusetts, Amherst.
- Epstein, Roy J. *A History of Econometrics*. Contributions to Economic Analysis No. 165. Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1987.

- Fang, T and C. Lin, *Minimum Wages and Employment in China*, (December, 2013), IZA DP No. 7813.
- Freeman, Richard B. 1982. "Economic Determinants of Geographic and Individual Variation in the Labor Market Position of Young Persons." In *The Youth Labor Market Problem: Its Nature, Causes, and Consequences*, Rich- ard B. Freeman and David A. Wise, eds. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, pp. 115–154. \
- Grindling, T. H. and K. Terrell, "Minimum Wages, Wage and Employment in Various Sector in Honduras," *Labour Economics*, (2009), Vol. 16, pp. 291-303.
- Gunsoy, G and S. Tekeki, "Time Series Analysis for Effect of the Minimum Wage on Female Employment in Turkey," *International of Business and Social Science*, Vol. 4, n. 6, (June, 2013), pp. 119 129.
- Hansen, Christian B., 2007a. "Generalized Least Squares Inference in Panel and Multilevel Models with Serial Correlation and Fixed Effects." *Journal of Econometrics* 140 (October): 670–94.
- Hansen, Christian B. 2007b. "Asymptotic Properties of a Robust Variance Matrix Estimator for Panel Data When T Is Large." *Journal of Econometrics* 141 (December): 597–620.
- Harrison, A. and J. Scorse, "Multinationals and Anti-Sweatshop Activism," *American Economic Review*, (March 2010), Vol 100, n. 1, pp 247-273.
- Jia, P, Employment and Working Hour effect of Minimum Wage Increases: Evidence from China", *China and the World*, Vol. 22, n. 1, (2014), pp 61-80.
- Katz, Lawrence F., and Alan B. Krueger. 1992. "The Effect of the Minimum Wage on the Fast-Food Industry." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 46 (October): 6-21.
- Lee, David S. 1999. "Wage Inequality in the United States During the 1980s: Rising Dispersion or Falling Minimum Wage?" *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 114 (August): 977-1023.
- Mayneris, F, S. Poncet and T. Zhang, *The Cleansing Effect of Minimum Wage: Minimum Wage Rules, Firm Dynamics and Aggregate Productivity in China*, August, 2014, https://ideas.repec.org/p/cii/cepidt/2014-16.html.
- McFadden, D., "Conditional Logit Analysis of Qualitative Choice Behavior," P. Zarembka (ed.), FRONTIERS IN ECONOMETRICS, 105-142, Academic Press: New York, 1974.
- Meyer, Bruce D. 1995. "Natural and Quasi-Experiments in Economics." *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics* 13 (April): 151-161.
- Mondragon-Velez, C., X. Pen, D. Wells and A. Kugler, "Labor Market Rigidities and Informality in Columbia," *Economia*, Vol. 11, n. 1, (Fall, 2010), pp 65 101.
- Muravyev, A. and A. Oshchepkov, *Minimum Wages, Unemployment and Informality:* Evidence from Panel Data on Russian Regions, (December, 2013) IZA DP n. 7878.
- Nataraj, S., F Perez-Arce and K. B. Kumar, "The Impact of Labor market Regulation on Employment in Low-Income Countries: A Meta-Analysis," *Journal of Economic Surveys*, (2014), Vol 28, n. 3, pp 551-572;
- Neumark, D., M. Schweitzer, and W. Wascher. 2004. "Mini- mum Wage Effects throughout the Wage Distribution." *Journal of Human Resources* 39(2): 425–450.

- Neumark, David, and William Wascher. 1992. "Employment Effects of Minimum and Subminimum Wages: Panel Data on State Minimum-Wage Laws." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 46 (October): 55-81.
- Neumark, D. (2001), "The Employment Effects of the Minimum Wages: Estimates from a Pre-Specified Research Design," *Industrial Relations*, Vol. 40, n. 1 (January, 2001), pp 121 144.
- Neumark, D., W. Cunningham, and L. Siga, "The Effects of the Minimum Wage in Brazil on the Distribution of Family Incomes: 1996-2001," *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol 80, (2006), pp. 136-159.
- Neumark, David, J. M. Ian Salas, and William Wascher. 2004. "Revisiting the Minimum Wage-Employment Debate: Throwing Out the Baby with the Bathwater?" *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 67 (Spring Supplement): 608-648.
- Ni, J., G. Wang and X. Yao, "Impact of Minimum Wages on Employment," *The Chinese Economy*," (January-February, 2011), Vol. 44, n. 1, pp. 18-38.
- Papps, K. L., "The Effects of Social Security Taxes and Minimum Wages on Employment: Evidence from Turkey," *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, (July, 2012), Vol. 65, n. 3, pp. 686-707.
- Pelek, S. *The Employment Effect of the Minimum Wage on Youth Labour Market in Turkey: A Regional Panel Data Analysis*, monograph, downloaded, January, 2014, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228466644_The_Employment_Effect_of_the _Minimum_Wage_on_Youth_Labour_Market_in_Turkey_A_Regional_Panel_Data_A nalysis
- Sabia, Joseph J., Richard Burkhauser, and Benjamin Hansen. 2012. "Are the Effects of Minimum Wage Increases Always Small? New Evidence from a Case Study of New York State." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 65 (April): 350-376.
- Soundararajarn, V. *Minimum Wage Effects at Different Enforcement Levels: Evidence from Employment Surveys in India*, WP 2014-12 (April, 2014), C.H. Dyson School of Applied Economics and Management, Cornell University.
- Souza P. and P. Baltar: "Salário mínimo e taxa de salários no Brasil" ["Minimum wage and wage levels in Brazil"] in *Pesquisa e Planejamento Econômico* [Research and Economic Planning] (1979), Vol. 9, No. 3, pp. 629–660.
- Stigler, George. 1946. "The Economics of Minimum Wage Legislation." *American Economic Review* 36(3): 358–365.
- Strobl, E. and F. Walsh, "Minimum Wages and Compliance: The Case of Trinidad and Tobago," *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, (January, 2003), Vol. 51, n. 2, pp. 427-450.
- Wang, J and M Gunderson, "Minimum Wage Impacts in China: Estimates from a Prespecified Research Design, 2000-2007, *Contemporary Economic Policy*, Vol. 29, n. 3, (July, 2011), pp 392-406.
- Working, Elmer J. 1927. "What Do Statistical 'Demand Curves' Show?" *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 41 (February): 212-235.
- Wolfson, Paul J., 2011. "Phantom Results from Panel Regressions." SSRN Working Paper. Available at SSRN: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1839718.

Conditions of Work and Employment Series

- No. 1 Quality of working life: A review on changes in work organization, conditions of employment and work-life arrangements (2003), by Howard Gospel
- No. 2 Sexual harassment at work: A review of preventive measures (2005), by Deirdre McCann
- No. 3 Statistics on working time arrangements based on time-use survey data (2003), by Andrew S. Harvey, Jonathan Gershuny, Kimberly Fisher & Ather Akbari
- No. 4 The definition, classification and measurement of working time arrangements (2003), by David Bell & Peter Elias
- No. 5 Reconciling work and family: Issues and policies in Japan (2003), by Masahiro Abe, Chizuka Hamamoto & Shigeto Tanaka
- No. 6 Reconciling work and family: Issues and policies in the Republic of Korea (2004), by Tae-Hong Kim & Hye-Kyung Kim
- No. 7 Domestic work, conditions of work and employment: A legal perspective (2003), by José Maria Ramirez-Machado
- No. 8 Reconciling work and family: Issues and policies in Brazil (2004), by Bila Sorj
- No. 9 Employment conditions in an ageing world: Meeting the working time challenge (2004), by Annie Jolivet & Sangheon Lee
- No. 10 Designing programmes to improve working and employment conditions in the informal economy: A literature review (2004), by Dr. Richard D. Rinehart
- No. 11 Working time in transition: The dual task of standardization and flexibilization in China (2005), by Xiangquan Zeng, Liang Lu & Sa'ad Umar Idris
- No. 12 Compressed working weeks (2006), by Philip Tucker
- No. 13 Étude sur les temps de travail et l'organisation du travail: Le cas du Sénégal. Analyse juridique et enquête auprès des entreprises (2006), by Alfred Inis Ndiaye
- No. 14 Reconciling work and family: Issues and policies in Thailand (2006), by Kyoko Kusakabe
- No. 15 Conditions of work and employment for older workers in industrialized countries: Understanding the issues (2006), by N.S. Ghosheh Jr., Sangheon Lee & Deirdre McCann
- No. 16 Wage fixing in the informal economy: Evidence from Brazil, India, Indonesia and South Africa (2006) by Catherine Saget
- No. 18 Reconciling work and family: Issues and policies in Trinidad and Tobago (2008), by Rhoda Reddock & Yvonne Bobb-Smith
- No. 19 Minding the gaps: Non-regular employment and labour market segmentation in the Republic of Korea (2007) by Byung-Hee Lee & Sangheon Lee

- No. 20 Age discrimination and older workers: Theory and legislation in comparative context (2008), by Naj Ghosheh
- No. 21 Labour market regulation: Motives, measures, effects (2009), by Giuseppe Bertola
- No. 22 Reconciling work and family: Issues and policies in China (2009), by Liu Bohong, Zhang Yongying & Li Yani
- No. 23 Domestic work and domestic workers in Ghana: An overview of the legal regime and practice (2009), by Dzodzi Tsikata
- No. 24 A comparison of public and private sector earnings in Jordan (2010), by Christopher Dougherty
- No. 25 The German work-sharing scheme: An instrument for the crisis (2010), by Andreas Crimmann, Frank Weissner & Lutz Bellmann
- No. 26 Extending the coverage of minimum wages in India: Simulations from household data (2010), by Patrick Belser & Uma Rani
- No. 27 The legal regulation of working time in domestic work (2010), by Deirdre Mc Cann & Jill Murray
- No. 28 What do we know about low-wage work and low-wage workers (2011), by Damian Grimshaw
- No. 29 Estimating a living wage: a methodological review (2011), by Richard Anker
- No. 30 Measuring the economic and social value of domestic work: conceptual and methodological framework (2011), by Debbie Budlender
- No. 31 Working Time, Health, and Safety: a Research Synthesis Paper (2012), by Philip Tucker & Simon Folkard
- No. 32 The influence of working time arrangements on work-life integration or 'balance': A review of the international evidence (2012), by Colette Fagan, Clare Lyonette, Mark Smith & Abril Saldaña-Tejeda
- No. 33 The Effects of Working Time on Productivity and Firm Performance: a research synthesis paper (2012), by Lonnie Golden
- No. 34 Estudio sobre trabajo doméstico en Uruguay (2012), by Karina Batthyány
- No. 35 Why have wage shares fallen? A panel analysis of the determinants of functional income distribution (2012), by Engelbert Stockhammer
- No. 36 Wage-led or Profit-led Supply: Wages, Productivity and Investment (2012), by Servaas Storm & C.W.M. Naastepad
- No. 37 Financialisation and the requirements and potentials for wage-led recovery a review focusing on the G20 (2012), by Eckhard Hein & Matthias Mundt
- No. 38 Wage Protection Legislation in Africa (2012), by Najati Ghosheh

- No. 39 Income inequality as a cause of the Great Recession? A survey of current debates (2012), by Simon Sturn & Till van Treeck
- No. 40 Is aggregate demand wage-led or profit-led? National and global effects (2012), by Özlem Onaran & Giorgos Galanis
- No. 41 Wage-led growth: Concept, theories and policies (2012), by Marc Lavoie & Engelbert Stockhammer
- No. 42 The visible face of Women's invisible labour: domestic workers in Turkey (2013), by Seyhan Erdoğdu & Gülay Toksöz
- No. 43 In search of good quality part-time employment (2013), by Colette Fagan, Helen Norman, Mark Smith & María C. González Menéndez
- No. 44 The use of working time-related crisis response measures during the Great Recession (2013), by Angelika Kümmerling & Steffen Lehndorff
- No. 45 Analysis of employment, real wage, and productivity trends in South Africa since 1994 (2014), by Martin Wittenberg
- No. 46 Poverty, inequality and employment in Chile (2014), by Sarah Gammage, Tomás Alburquerque & Gonzálo Durán
- No. 47 Deregulating labour markets: How robust is the analysis of recent IMF working papers? (2014), by Mariya Aleksynska
- No. 48 Growth with equity in Singapore: Challenges and prospects (2014), by Hui Weng Tat & Ruby Toh
- No. 49 Informality and employment quality in Argentina, Country case study on labour market segmentation (2014), by Fabio Bertranou, Luis Casanova, Maribel Jiménez & Mónica Jiménez
- No. 50 Comparing indicators of labour market regulations across databases: A post scriptum to the employing workers debate (2014), by Mariya Aleksynska & Sandrine Cazes
- No. 51 The largest drop in income inequality in the European Union during the Great Recession: Romania's puzzling case (2014), by Ciprian Domnisoru
- No. 52 Segmentation and informality in Vietnam: A survey of literature, Country case study on labour market segmentation (2014), by Jean-Pierre Cling, Mireille Razafindrakoto & François Roubaud
- No. 53 A chronology of employment protection legislation in some selected European countries (2014), by Mariya Aleksynska & Alexandra Schmidt
- No. 54 How tight is the link between wages and productivity? A survey of the literature (2014), by Johannes Van Biesebroeck
- No. 55 Job quality in segmented labour markets: The Israeli case, Country case study on labour market segmentation (2014), by Shoshana Neuman

- No. 56 The organization of working time and its effects in the health services sector: A comparative analysis of Brazil, South Africa, and the Republic of Korea (2014), by Jon Messenger & Patricia Vidal
- No. 57 The motherhood pay gap: A review of the issues, theory and international evidence (2015), by Damian Grimshaw & Jill Rubery
- No. 58 The long journey home: The contested exclusion and inclusion of domestic workers from Federal wage and hour protections in the United States (2015), by Harmony Goldberg
- No. 60 Negociación colectiva, salarios y productividad: el caso uruguayo (2015), by Graziela Mazzuchi, Juan Manuel Rodríguez y Eloísa González
- No. 61 Non-standard work and workers: Organizational implications (2015), by Elizabeth George & Prithviraj Chattopadhyay
- No. 62 What does the minimum wage do in developing countries? A review of studies and methodologies (2015), by Dale Belman & Paul Wolfson
- No. 63 The regulation of non-standard forms of employment in India, Indonesia and Viet Nam (2015), by Ingrid Landau, Petra Mahy & Richard Mitchell
- No. 64 The regulation of non-standard forms of employment in China, Japan and the Republic of Korea (2015), by Fang Lee Cooke & Ronald Brown
- No. 65 Re-regulating for inclusive labour markets (2015), by Jill Rubery
- No. 66 Minimum wage setting practices in domestic work: An inter-state analysis (2015), by Neetha N.
- No. 67 The effects of non-standard forms of employment on worker health and safety (2015), by Michael Quinlan
- No. 68 Structural change and non-standard forms of employment in India (2015), by Ravi Srivastava
- No. 69 Non-standard forms of employment in some Asian countries: A study of wages and working conditions of temporary workers (2016), by Huu-Chi Nguyen, Thanh Tam Nguyen-Huu & Thi-Thuy-Linh Le
- No. 70 Non-standard forms of employment in Uganda and Ghana (2016), by Christelle Dumas & Cédric Houdré
- No. 71 The rise of the "just-in-time workforce": On-demand work, crowdwork and labour protection in the "gig-economy" (2016), by Valerio De Stefano
- No. 72 The introduction of a minimum wage for domestic workers in South Africa (2016), by Debbie Budlender
- No. 73 Productivity, wages and union in Japan (2016), by Takao Kato